MINUTES

CEMETERY TRUSTEES MEETING
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 14, 2025

WILLIAM L. PULLEN MUNICIPAL BUILDING MEETING ROOM

ONLINE NON-INTERACTIVE ON TOWN HALL STREAMS
6:00 p.m.

Present: Myrna Soule, Ron Hawes, John Shepard, and Keith Siegel

Others present: Todd Souza (Town Manager), Jody Wentworth, and Lanny Dean

1. Call Meeting to Order: at 6:01 p.m. by Todd Souza

2.

Welcome & Introductions:

Todd said this is an organizational meeting. Everyone introduced themselves. Todd
thanked Myrna, saying he’s spent hours with her visiting cemeteries, bringing him up to
speed, and talking about challenges.

“State of the Cemeteries”:

Todd said this will be a standing agenda item. He said the town now manages five
cemeteries (Common, East Union, Lake View, Skidmore, and Sidelinger), with Myrna
adding the Butler Cemetery on Rt. 131 for a total of six. In answer to Ron, Myrna thought
Butler was added around 1987. This will be clarified.

Governance:
Operations

Todd said he will work on a job description for the Cemeteries Director. He brought up
roles and responsibilities for the Town of Union components considering their different
skill sets — him (Town Manager), Codes, Public Works, etc. We should solidify a routine
seasonal work plan and cemetery rules . He’d like to see Myrna just enforcing and
educating people

Maintenance

Todd again brought up the town’s role, when and how we use contracted services, trash,
and removing debris from the sites. He noted we do not have designated areas for site
debris at the cemeteries. He also discussed keeping the fences in the best shape (repaired
and painted), trees (come up with a process to evaluate), general grass care, stone
cleaning, and barriers for autos (delineate and define or make sure they can’t drive there).



Cemetery Trustees Meeting Minutes — October 14, 2025

Burials

Todd said in our rules right now we have 4’x10°, 5°x10°, and 4’x5’ cremation lots. Those
are the standard ones. We also have special rules for different plots and lots that have
been sold over the years.

Decisions to make down the road include: how many plots per lot, burying and
cremations. Do we allow people to bury their own? Do we have some delineation? He
talked about unifying things and making decisions for moving forward. How many stones
on a lot? What location, front or back? These questions can be cemetery and location
centered, as there are different parts of each cemetery. He also brought up allowable
burial types and who can dig a grave.

He will ask committee members to review the rules for the next meeting. We can
evaluate them so our rules match our intent and what we want to have happen, and if they
don’t, modify or add to them. There are some common practice such as making sure that
every funeral home understands the rules, because those organizations change, too. He
wants to ensure we are doing the best we can for the people being buried here.

Discussion followed. In answer to John, Myrna said we provide some trash receptacles in
the open cemeteries, and at the moment Public Works deals with them. Also in answer to
John, she said a schedule for cleaning and maintaining the stones is a tough thing to do
now because you can’t find people to work. Ron noted it’s a precious skill; you can’t just
scrub the stones, you’ve got to know what you’re doing. Some pressure washing has been
done.

In answer to Lanny, Todd said Union has taken on the duty of fixing and cleaning stones
we have for certain ones. The state requires it for veterans’ stones. Those are decisions
we need to make. He has looked at the rules for several towns of different sizes. He noted
some stones date from centuries ago. We need a process of reaching out to families.

Myrna said with a lot of the stones, if they’re not cleaned you can’t read them, and we are
burying on some lots that are over 100 years old now. A toothbrush is not going to work
on Common Cemetery. Todd said there are choices we have to make, especially the old
areas of the cemeteries: is there a way to do some more marking or identification? More
discussion followed.

Planning
Todd said some cemeteries have been mapped and surveyed. Some have not. How do we
set some goals? Can we get these scanned and digitized, protected, and maybe recreated

at some point in the process? He confirmed with Myrna we can scan some in the town
office. Lanny mentioned maps that people may have as well as the historical society.

Page 2 of 6



Cemetery Trustees Meeting Minutes — October 14, 2025

Todd said we could put out a call for knowledge or history, and images of any of the
cemeteries from the past. He asked where do you give it, and if you have it how do we
share it and get a copy of it and put it in the archive as part of the living history of things
that have happened? Discussion followed. Myrna said she has some books that she still
uses. She added there are good things and bad things about keeping copies.

Todd said he met with Letitia, GIS coordinator for the county, and Caden the intern who
did stones and their locations a couple years ago. He is interested in continuing some of
that on his own time. Letitia is finishing a project digitizing a cemetery in Camden, and
once we get organized they’re willing to start looking at it for us. Todd added we pay the
county already so it’s perfect.

Myrna, Ron, Lanny, and Keith talked about the vagaries of where the actual ashes or
body may be vs. where the stone may be, etc., as well as exes.

Todd asked if the town should be thinking about a parcel for a sixth (or seventh?)
cemetery 100 years down the road, because two of them are already closed. Discussion
followed.

Rules & Regulations

Todd said this involves local and state rules and regulations, and staying on top of them.
Myrna has shared a bunch of scenarios to go over in future meetings. This also involves
reviewing our existing rules (what we want them to be, how we want things to function),
continually updating them, and our process for addressing challenges when they come up.

Discussion followed, with Todd suggesting a main set of standard rules, then each
cemetery has its own special rules dealing with location, section, etc.

Budget & Trust:

Todd said the cemetery budget, approved in the last budget process, is $65,890, of which
the majority -- $45,190 — is mowing. In past years, the mowing has all been Public
Works. This year, because we were down two of four full-time employees, we
subcontracted to a previous employee that had mowed for us and had done a good job.
Three were done by Public Works (Tom Fontaine is PW Director).

Public Works has done a fantastic job, Todd continued, and they take a lot of pride in it.
He is looking at the best value for Public Works time allocation, taking into consideration
all their tasks such as ditching, and evaluating where a contractor might be used.

He will get committee members a spreadsheet and said there is $320,860.60 in the
Cemetery Trust Fund. When somebody pays a lot or plot fee, 20% goes into general
maintenance to offset the budget every year (above), and 80% goes into perpetual care
(this).

Page 3 of 6



Cemetery Trustees Meeting Minutes — October 14, 2025

Todd said he needs to dig a little deeper — and one of the group’s homework assignments
will be — to find out what perpetual funds can be used for by state law. In answer to Jody,
he said he thinks those funds are invested but will check.

He elaborated, when we look at some of the deferred maintenance and start putting
master plans in place for each cemetery, what can that perpetual care be used for? We
should be able to look at each cemetery as a whole. Myrna said if somebody donated
money for specific items, those would be delineated.

Todd said we have to understand our restraints and powers. In answer to Keith, he said
there haven’t been a lot of expenditures from the annual budget. If we’re asking for it, we
should be using it; and if we don’t need it, why ask for it. That’s part of capital planning.

Myrna pointed out we never know how many lots we’re going to sell in a given year.
Todd reiterated we’re not covering the maintenance from the sales of the lots; that 20%
offsets the budget. He also said there is a reserve account for cemetery stone repair, with
$39,314.68 in it.

Todd said looking back in town records, the only thing he (actually Michelle) found was
a town warrant article back in 1950, to elect a board of trustees to manage cemetery trust
funds. He said we are building something here. Myrna added she has a big book of
perpetual care that she brought in.

Todd reiterated our number one thing is to find out what our authority is under state
regulation and build backwards from there. Keith mentioned the town attorney advising
at some point.

Challenges:

Todd brought forward two challenges to the committee. One was the recording and
digitizing of records, and how we want to keep those going forward. We have Crypt
Keeper software that we need to get caught up a little bit on. He’s going to something on
Tuesday to learn more about that. Two was understanding ROWs — do we have formal
agreements, where can people park, do we approach families and ask them to expand or
allow parking? He added this is preserving our rights.

Develop a Charge:

Todd clarified a charge is a fancy word for power: what committees can do, what their
role is. We need to create a charge for the Cemetery Trustees (to be approved by the
select board). The 1950 warrant article was really just about management of the funds.
He’d like to propose at some point whether this committee needs to expand with more
members, and more guidance in operations because the funds drive the operations. The
charge is not how things get done, but why they get done — why we were established,
kind of a mission statement.

Page 4 of 6



Cemetery Trustees Meeting Minutes — October 14, 2025

Elements of charges include the makeup of the committee (how many, any leadership
structure), duties and power (Todd noted many committee charges say, “advise select
board and town staff”’), a procedure section (when/how often you meet), and how the
committee functions.

Todd also said Myrna took him on tours of the cemeteries which was very helpful.
John expressed his gratitude to Myrna saying there is so much more to this than he
imagined. This was echoed by the group.

Todd clarified his earlier comment about Tuesday: the Maine Cemetery Association is
having an annual meeting followed by a conference. The latter includes a roundtable with
three cemetery directors talking about challenges and new laws that are coming, a section
on three different types of software with demos, and a section on ultrasound (ground
penetrating radar).

Todd said another of his goals is to get a staff member up to date on the software and
help facilitate that, so Myrna has a resource upstairs.

He said overall there are three big goals: 1) a high level look; 2) dive deeper into
financials and what the rules are for expenditure; and 3) set some working items for
doing the rules based on all the things we’ve heard. He provided an example from
Veazie. Discussion followed. Todd will put together a draft charge for next meeting,
while the committee’s task will be reading the rules and understanding them as written.

The group will meet here and carpool for a cemetery tour with Myrna on Thursday,
November 6 at 10:00 a.m. The timeframe is two hours.

The next meeting will be Monday, November 10 or Monday, November 17 (pending
Keith’s schedule) at 5:00 p.m.

Todd said personally he thought we should have at least five members or three members
and two alternates. Ron suggested that all information be forwarded to Jody Wentworth
and Lanny Dean as people showing interest.

Consensus was the committee should expand. Ron said this should lead to another town
warrant article so that people 50 years hence can look back. The group commended Todd
for getting this together. He said even if the charge is not perfect — the select board can
and does update committee charges all the time — we don’t need a charge to last 50 years,
we need a charge to get going. Keith said the saying is, “Don’t let perfection get in the
way of good.”

Page 5 of 6



Cemetery Trustees Meeting Minutes — October 14, 2025

8. Adjourn
Motion by: Ron Hawes
2" by: Keith Siegel
4-0
Meeting adjourned at 7:33 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Sherry Abaldo
Secretary

Page 6 of 6



